
BOROUGH OF FAIR LAWN 
ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

Special Meeting 
Of May 24, 2007 

 
 
Following are the minutes of the Fair Lawn Zoning Board of Adjustment's special 
meeting held on Thursday, May 24, 2007. 
 
Chairman Scott Levy called the regular meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. and declared that 
the meeting was being held in accordance with the Open Public Meeting Law. 
 
Roll Call:  Present were: Mr. Karas, Mr. Newman, Ms. Spindel, Mr. Diner, 

Mr. Sacchinelli, Mr. Salerno, Mr. Meer and Mr. Levy. 
 
Absent were:   Mr. Nakashian, Mr. Charipper, and Mr. Blecher. 

 
Also in attendance were William Soukas, Board Attorney; Paul Azzolina, Board 
Engineer; Mark Katryniak, Board Traffic Engineer; Cheryl Bergailo, Board Planner; Ann 
Peck, Assistant Zoning Officer; Karen Kocsis, Court Reporter and Carol LoPiccolo, 
Zoning Board Clerk. 
 
Mr. Levy stated that Mr. Diner would be qualified to vote as he read the transcript of 
April 9.   Mr. Salerno was not present for the May 3 meeting and is not eligible to vote. 
 
Commercial Old Business: 

1. Application #2007-025, Fair Lawn Fire Company No. 1, Inc. 
12-34 George Street, Block 5611, Lots 19-24, Zone R-1-3 
The proposed addition to the existing Fire House would have 3 stories where only 
2 ½ are permitted.  Bulk variances for front yard setback, rear yard setback and 
impervious coverage as per Section 125-12 Schedule of area, yard and building 
requirements.  The proposed height of 35.91’ where 30’ is permitted requires a 
Use and Site Plan Variance as per Section 125-57.D.(d)(1).  Parking variance 
relief is required as per Section 125-48A(2).  Subdivision of lot requires approval 
as per Section 125-6.  
 
Mr. Matthew Fox, architect of Canger Engineering, came forward and was 
accepted as an expert witness and stated that he prepared the plans for this 
application.  Revised plans dated May 8 for the subdivision were marked as 
Exhibit A-8.  Revised plans dated May 3 for the site plan were marked as Exhibit 
A-9.  Mr. Fox described the subdivision with the northerly parcel that would be 
subdivided as a 65'x100' lot to sell for a residential dwelling.  The lot would 
conform for lot area, width, depth.  The subdivision lot would not require any 
variances.  The southerly lot would be 4300 s.f. which is deficient for a residential 



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 2 
 
 
 

lot and is not being considered for those purposes.  Sheet 2 of the subdivision plan 
shows the existing structures and the surrounding structures. 
 
Mr. Fox depicted the site plan which the driveway was reconfigured along with 
curb stops and striping for the parking lot.  A landscaping plan was also submitted 
as Sheet 2.  The landscaping plan depicted the proposed plantings.  Additional 
landscaping was added along George Street and the rear of the property as 
requested by the area residents.  There was a fence detail shown on the rear of the 
property line.  A diagram showed the maneuver for the parking on the plan for 
spaces 22 and 23.  Sheet 3 showed the lighting plan and the spillage of the 
lighting as being reduced so as not to have undue lighting on the adjoining 
properties.  The fixtures could be adjusted to redirect the lighting if necessary 
once they are installed.   
 
Mr. Fox reviewed Sheet 1 of the site plan for the bulk requirements.  The 
minimum lot area is 6,500 s.f. - 17,306 s.f. would be for the Firehouse.  Frontage 
is 173.06'.  Lot depth would be 100'. Front yard would be 19.7' which is pre-
existing.  Side yard would be 38.7'.  Rear yard would be 12.6' which is a pre-
existing nonconformity.  Height is 35.91' to the mean.  23.36% is the building 
coverage.  Lot coverage would be 93.37% which is down from the existing 95%.  
The site has been improved with the parking configuration and a reduction of 
impervious coverage and water would be directed into the street.  Signage details 
were also provided .  The drainage easement is indicated on the site plan of 
23,030 s.f. which impacts what could be done on the site.   
 
Mr. Fox stated that the area that was proposed for the River Road parking could 
be left as it is dependent on what happens with the governing body with the land 
swap. 
 
Mr. Levy asked about the bulk schedule for the southerly lot that will be the 
residential lot.  Mr. Ahearn responded that there isn't one and the lot will be 
conforming.   
 
Mr. Karas asked if the subdivision included the southerly parcel.  Mr. Ahearn 
responded no.  The southerly parcel remains with the fire company unless the 
governing body says otherwise.  Mr. Karas asked if it is unable to be worked out 
with the governing body would the applicant have to come back.  Mr. Ahearn 
responded yes. 
 
Ms. Bergailo stated the plans should change the wording to say potential 
subdivision as opposed to saying proposed new lot line. 
 
Mr. Azzolina stated that the plan shows a new lot line and if this were recognized 
as part of the firehouse then the lot should show it to be approximately 21,000 s.f., 



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 3 
 
 
 

not the 17,306 s.f.  Mr. Fox stated that the southerly parcel is not included in the 
17,306 s.f. lot size.   
 
Mr. Karas stated that there are no restrictive covenants on the southerly parcel.  
Mr. Ahearn stated yes.  Mr. Karas asked if the Board granted the subdivision of 
the northerly parcel would there be a restrictive covenant.  Mr. Ahearn stated it 
would be a condition of approval.  Mr. Ahearn stated that the wording would have 
to be acceptable to the Board's professionals in the resolution to make these items 
clear. 
 
Mr. Levy asked if the subdivision is approved, if the firehouse is not approved by 
the Board then the subdivision is still approved.  Mr. Ahearn responded that they 
are conditional of each other.  Ms. Bergailo stated that it would remain all one 
property.  The site plan could be approved without the subdivision.  Mr. Soukas 
stated that the height variance should be voted on first then the site plan and then 
the subdivision.  Mr. Soukas stated that the subdivision vote would be done on the 
northerly parcel and then the southerly parcel.  Mr. Ahearn stated yes, but the 
southerly parcel would remain with the firehouse with a deed restriction until the 
town determines the land swap.  Ms. Bergailo stated that the subdivision of the 
southerly lot which would be undersized, would need a variance for lot area, 
width and coverage.  This lot would be retained by the firehouse until the Council 
approves the land swap. 
 
Mr. Karas asked that the northerly and southerly parcel would be subdivided and 
that the southerly parcel would remain as is for parking for the firehouse until the 
Council decides on the land swap. 
 
Mr. Levy asked if the drainage remains the same.  Mr. Ahearn stated yes. 
 
Mr. Meer asked if down the road the fire company needs another fire truck, 
wouldn't some space be needed for that.  Mr. Ahearn stated he would have to 
speak with his client.  Mr. Levy stated they would have to come back to the Board 
if that should happen. 
 
Mr. Karas asked if the applicant works out with the Council the removal of the 
covenants on the northerly and southerly parcel that would mean that the 
southerly parcel no longer needs the subdivision.  The southerly parcel would 
remain part of the fire company's property.  Mr. Ahearn stated that they would 
come back with a revised site plan then. 
 
Ms. Bergailo felt that the subdivision would not be dissolved and there might be 
time constraints with filing the deed.  Mr. Ahearn stated that if the height variance 
is approved the Zoning Board retains jurisdiction. 
 



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 4 
 
 
 

Ms. Spindel stated that the landscaping plan could be improved upon and would 
like to see this plan revised to show plantings that would be more tolerant of the 
weather conditions and not have a plan with so much of the same thing.  Ms. 
Spindel stated that there is a 30" height restriction in the site triangle.  Mr. Ahearn 
responded that they would revise the landscaping plan.  Ms. Spindel asked about 
the impervious coverage if a permeable block could be used.  Mr. Fox responded 
that the Building Department would still recognize it as impervious coverage. 
 
Mr. Levy stated that the light fixture type is not appropriate.  Mr. Ahearn 
responded they would work with the Board to improve it. 
 
Mr. Karas stated that Mr. Fox indicated that they are trying to limit lighting 
spillage and asked what type of fixture would be on the front of the exterior.  Mr. 
Fox responded that there are 2 on the façade of 70 watt.  Mr. Karas asked if the 
light would be focused downward.  Mr. Fox stated they would go downward and 
it would not effect the residents across the street.  There would be a couple of 
light poles on the southerly portion to light parking spaces 1-10.  Mr. Karas asked 
if that light would spill over to the residential area.  Mr. Fox responded no.  Mr. 
Karas asked about the parking area to the north.  Mr. Fox stated that light as well 
would not have any spillage. 
 
Mr. Levy asked about the circulation of the site.  Mr. Fox stated that the site plan 
indicates a 24' aisle to the northerly end of the building with an ingress and egress 
to the south.  Parking spaces 22 & 23 have a deficiency of a back out of 18" and it 
is shown how they would maneuver.  Both ingress and egress is out of the 2 
driveways and there is no circulation at the rear of the building.  There is also an 
ingress and egress for the fire truck.  Mr. Kataryniak stated that the aisle goes 
from 24' to 21' due to a jut out of the paver area.  Ms. Bergailo stated that would 
be flush and could be driven on.  Mr. Kataryniak suggested that the applicant 
designate parking spaces 24-30 (excluding the 2 handicapped) to the north for fire 
department use only and then the parking to the south could be widened where 
need be.  Mr. Fox agreed.   
 
Mr. Kataryniak asked how they propose to access the southerly lot if the land 
swap does not happen.  Mr. Ahearn stated they would have to open it up.  Mr. 
Kataryniak stated then there would be an additional curb cut on George Street. 
 
Mr. Azzolina asked why the handicapped spots were located where they were and 
not at 20 & 21.  Mr. Fox stated that would be problem, but could relocate it and 
have only 1 handicapped.  Mr. Azzolina stated the dropped curb is in excess of 6'.  
Mr. Fox responded that is due to the aisle width and it would be too difficult to 
maneuver if it were less.  Mr. Azzolina stated that would be a waiver not a 
variance. 
 



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 5 
 
 
 

Ms. Bergailo asked if a fence would be proposed in the rear.  Capt. Reamy stated 
that they had one year ago and it became a problem with weeds.  Mr. Ives stated 
that another project before the Planning Board will put a fence on a portion of this 
property.  Mr. Ahearn stated they could put a fence. 
 
Ms. Bergailo stated the Board could grant the subdivision and if the time would 
run out the applicant could come back for an extension. 
 
Mr. Azzolina stated that although there is a decrease in impervious coverage, 
there is a flat roof and how will the run-off be handled.  Typically with new 
construction a direct connection is preferred on site which is not depicted.  There 
is mention of a seepage pit.  Mr. Fox responded the existing impervious coverage 
was 99.03% and it has been reduced to 93.37%.  There will be zero run off and 
this would satisfy the requirement with the County.  We have not done a seepage 
pit but it will be designed to capture the water from the roof.  Mr. Fox stated there 
will be a direct connection to the existing storm drain.  Mr. Azzolina requested a 
pipe detail be shown on the plans.  Mr. Fox stated there is an inside drain in the 
firehouse. 
 
Mr. Sacchinelli asked about the inside drain in the firehouse and if there was a 
filter to catch grease and oil.  Mr. Fox stated he did not know and would check.  
Mr. Ahearn stated they would conform to all regulations.  Mr. Sacchinelli asked 
how many drains come off the roof of the building now.  Capt. Reamy stated 3 on 
the back of the building.  Mr. Sacchinelli asked how many would be there as 
proposed.  Capt. Reamy stated 6 and there is an open catch basin on the property.  
Mr. Fox stated that the applicant is not required to add additional drainage since 
the impervious coverage has been reduced.  Mr. Sacchinelli had concerns of the 
adjustment of the property and the potential of run-off should be addressed.  Mr. 
Fox stated the northerly parcel is completely paved right now and with the 
building of the home it would reduce the impervious coverage even more and if 
the southerly parcel is also subdivided that may also reduce the impervious 
coverage.  There will be no new paving done to the site.  Mr. Sacchinelli asked if 
the sloped roof would cause the water to run-off quicker.  Mr. Fox responded no.  
Mr. Azzolina stated that the increase of speed will be the same whether a pitch 
roof or flat roof. 
 
Mr. Levy opened the meeting to the public within 200' and the following came 
forward and were sworn in: 
 
Magdelena Castiglia asked if there would be consequences to the sewer system by 
the proposed firehouse.  Mr. Fox stated it would be very slight of an increase by 
200 gallons and would not effect the sewer system.  Ms. Castiglia asked about the 
increase from the firehouse.  Mr. Fox stated it would not negatively effect the 



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 6 
 
 
 

area.  Ms. Castiglia stated the pumps were pumping beyond capacity during the 
last storm.   
 
Ms. Castiglia asked if there would be an elevator in the building and why is it 
needed if it is not open to the public .  Mr. Ahearn stated it would be required 
since it is a public building.  Ms. Castiglia asked about the egress of the cars with 
the headlights shining on the residents.  Mr. Fox stated that the houses slope up 
and there would be no impact from the headlights.   
 
Mr. Levy asked what would the hours of operation be.  Capt. Reamy stated that it 
is a 24 hr. operation if there are calls. 
 
Mr. Newman asked if it is any different from what is currently going on.  Capt. 
Reamy responded no. 
 
Mr. Levy opened the meeting to the general public. 
 
Harvey Rubenstein, 28 Rutgers Terrace:  Mr. Rubenstein stated the property 
behind the firehouse is the Wallace Building, 12-45 River Road, and went before 
the Planning Board and there will be a fence with lattice at the rear of that 
property.  Mr. Ahearn stated that would be to the rear of the proposed single 
family home.  Mr. Rubenstein felt there should be a fence to have separation 
between the firehouse and the residential and it should be maintained.  Mr. 
Rubenstein asked if there would be a fence on the northerly side that may become 
the home.  Mr. Ahearn responded there would be a fence.  Mr. Rubenstein asked 
if bollards would suffice on that side so as not to effect the residential side.  Mr. 
Fox stated that what is proposed would not give any spillage to the residents.  Mr. 
Rubenstein asked if any signage would be lit.  Mr. Fox responded no.  Mr. 
Rubenstein asked if there would be access to the proposed River Road parking lot.  
Mr. Fox responded no, not at this time.  Ingress and egress would only be on 
George Street.  Mr. Rubenstein asked why the dumpster is not shown.  Mr. 
Ahearn stated there is little waste from the fire company.  Mr. Azzolina stated that 
adequate provisions must be made for garbage.  Mr. Ahearn stated there is no 
change to the garbage than what is there now.  Mr. Rubenstein asked if there is a 
curb against the fence and will there be a buffer.  Mr. Fox stated there will be 
wheel stops and the fence. 
 
Arlene Rubenstein, 28 Rutgers Terrace:  Mrs. Rubenstein stated the ADA 
regulations only apply to public buildings, then why is this being put in when it 
was determined that this is not a public building and why there are handicapped 
spaces.  It was testified that the public could not come in.   
 
Ms. Peck stated that the Construction Official would determine what handicapped 
spots are needed. 



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 7 
 
 
 

 
Mrs. Rubenstein also felt the impervious coverage is too high.  Mr. Fox testified 
that the site will have less run-off then there is today. 
 
Mr. Newman stated that right now the entire property is paved.  Mr. Fox stated 
the majority is paved, not the entire property. 
 
Nancy D'Antonio, 12-56 George Street:  Ms. D'Antonio asked if the Board 
approves this, and the land swap is approved, will the southerly side go for the 
River Road parking.  Mr. Ahearn responded that it would not automatically go for 
River Road parking.  It would be a condition of approval and it would be up to the 
governing body on how it wishes to proceed with the southerly lot.  Ms. 
D'Antonio asked if the request for the land swap, building the house on the 
northerly side is based on a developer's estimate for buying the parcel.  Mr. 
Ahearn stated that the parcel value doesn't matter.  The concept of the swap was 
to keep the residential home near the other residents.  Ms. D'Antonio stated the 
property on the southerly side has more potential for a residential use.  There is a 
maintenance company on the northerly side and would not be conducive.  Mr. 
Levy stated that is not the plan presented and the southerly lot would be smaller 
than the northerly lot.  Mr. Ahearn stated that what is proposed is what is 
recommended by the planner. 
 
Ms. D'Antonio asked if some of the parking area of the fire company is gone, 
does the fire company get into an agreement with the town.  Mr. Ahearn stated 
there will be no access to that area and right now there would be a flat paved area.  
The governing body will decide what will be done with the southerly lot and then 
revised plans will have to be submitted. 
 
Mr. Levy closed the meeting to the public and a recess was taken at 9:30 p.m.  
The meeting resumed at 9:45 p.m. 
 
Mr. Levy opened the meeting to the public for general comments and the 
following members of the public came forward: 
 
Ms. Castigilia felt George Street is overburdened with parking already.  The 
building is too big for the surrounding area, River Road and George Street.  Ms. 
Castiglia respects the firefighters and although they have certain needs, it does not 
entitle them to build the structure so big. 
 
Arlene Rubenstein agreed that the height is too high.  Mrs. Rubenstein previously 
asked if the smaller structure could be designed rather the larger facility and was 
told yes.  Mrs. Rubenstein stated that only a municipal building could be built 
over 35'.  Mrs. Rubenstein felt the firehouse could be made smaller. 
 



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 8 
 
 
 

Ms. D'Antonio felt the height is setting a precedence and the next developer 
would ask for at least that or more and the Board would have a tough time 
refusing them.  If the firehouse needed the space for the operations it could be 
possibly excused. 
 
Steven Pinzcar, 6-12 6th Street, is a volunteer firefighter and disagreed with Ms. 
Castiglia.  Mr. Pinzcar stated the money for this project was raised by the 
firehouse only.  Mr. Pinzcar stated the firefighters for company #1 are dedicated 
and this application should be granted. 
 
Capt. Reamy came forward and stated that what is being proposed will fit in with 
the neighborhood and if the approval is not granted, they will still build a nice 
building and thought the residents would have liked this proposal. 
 
Dorothy Hamilton, 12-26 Hamilton Street, asked if the fire company needed the 
money from the sale of the southerly parcel and is River Road planning on 
purchasing it.  Mr. Ahearn stated the southerly parcel would go to the governing 
body and they would decide what to do with it and the fire company would no 
longer own it.  Mr. Ahearn stated the northerly lot would be sold to help fund this 
project and they would give up the southerly lot. 
 
Joe Wensell, 9-12 River Road, is a volunteer fireman and stated that in 1958 what 
was needed is not what is needed now.  Demands have increased and the need for 
training and equipment gets larger.  The larger base is needed which raises up the 
height of the building.  Meetings are held there and firefighters come to these 
meetings and an elevator is needed.  Showers are also needed when firefighters 
come back from a fire.  Improvements are needed to the firehouse. 
 
Joseph Landi, 7-11 Hopper Avenue, felt the Board should look at whether it 
enhances the neighborhood and wasn't sure if the height would diminish the 
neighborhood.  Mr. Landi lives next door to B&B Liquors and felt the height of 
that building does impact his privacy. 
 
Pamela Coles, 13-34 George Street, stated there are many volunteers in town and 
the firefighters provide a heroic service.  Ms. Coles stated that she fought for the 
fire company to obtain a new fire truck, but this structure is excessive.  Building 
heights that go beyond what is zoned is inappropriate.  Ms. Coles stated that she 
was never called to any meeting to work with the fire company.  Also, the 
firefighters drive down the street at excessive speeds.  Ms. Coles felt this would 
not fit in with the neighborhood and the structure should be built to fit the fire 
truck without the excessive wants. 
 
Joseph Kunz, 12-59 George Street, is a volunteer fireman and stated that they 
look at the firehouse as a second home and they need more space.   



Fair Lawn Zoning Board 
May 24, 2007 – Minutes 
Page 9 
 
 
 

 
Mr. Ahearn requested to come back to the June 18 meeting for closing arguments. 
 
Mr. Karas asked if this facility is a municipally operated facility.  Mr. Ahearn 
responded that the use is a permitted use in the residential zone and the residential 
requirements apply. 
 
APPLICATION ADJOURNED TO JUNE 18, 2007 

 
VOUCHERS: 
 

1. Taylor Design Group, Inc. in the amounts of $1,207.50 for McDonald’s; $28.75 
for Cumberland Farms; and $525.00 for Fair Lawn Fire Co. #1. 

 
Mr. Newman made a motion to approve these vouchers and Ms. Spindel seconded 
the motion. 

 
ADJOURN 
 
Mr. Salerno made a motion to adjourn this meeting and Mr. Karas seconded the motion. 
 
VOTE:  All Present - YES. 
TIME:  10:25 p.m. 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
      Carol LoPiccolo 
      Zoning Board Clerk 
 
 


	ADJOURN

